ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


A. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY IGNORING 
THE OAB'S CREDIBILITY DETERMJNATIONS AND FAILED TO 
PERFORM ITS DUTY TO ANALYZE THE DECISION OF THE 
AGENCY WHICH MADE FACTUAL AND LEGAL 
DETERMINATIONS AFfER HEARING THE EVIDENCE. 

B. 	 THE RESPONDENT'S REFUSAL TO SUBMIT TO THE 
DESIGNATED SECONDARY CHEMICAL TEST IS 
DETERMINATIVE OF THE REVOCATION. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On August 4, 2010, at approximately 23:55 hours, Corporal K. Prager ("Investigating 

Officer") and Officer E. Goddard of the Wheeling Police Department were on patrol when they 

observed a tan Oldsmobile with a burned out headlight leaving the Owl's Nest and traveling on 

Edgington Lane in Ohio County, West Virginia Appendix Record at 26, 28, 69, 185, 197 

(Hereinafter, "A.R. at _".) The officers turned and followed the car. A.R. at 197. The officers 

stopped the car on National Road near.Byrd Avenue to let the driver know that he had a burned out 

headlight. A.R. at 26,28,69, 109, 185. 

Upon contacting the Respondent, who was driving the car, Officer Goddard asked for the 

Respondent's driver's license, registration and proof of insurance. The Respondent handed the 

officer his registration and insurance information. The Respondent avoided eye contact with Officer 

Goddard, and the officer had to ask the Respondent twice for his license. A.R. at 26, 70, 96-97, 100. 

Officer Goddard smelled an odor ofalcohol on the Respondent. A.R. at 26, 29, 106, 109, 111. He 

asked the Respondent whether he had been drinking. The Respondent did not reply initially, then 

indicated that he had drunk earlier in the day, said it had been a while and he knew he would pass. 

A. R. at 26, 29. The Respondent told Officer Goddard that he was having a really hard time in life 

and cannot get a break. A.R. at 26. 

The Investigating Officer then approached the driver's side door and asked.the Respondent 

to get out of the car. The Investigating Officer smelled tb,e odor of alcohol and noticed that the 
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Respondent's eyes were bloodshot. The Investigating Officer asked the Respondent ifhe had been 

drinking and the Respondent admitted that he had been drinking earlier. A. R. at 187, 194,206. 

The Investigating Officer asked the Respondent to perform field sobriety tests. The 

Investigating Officer was trained to administer field sobriety tests at the West Virginia -State Police 

Academy in 2004. A. R. at 190. He explained the horizontal gaze nystagmus test ("HGN") to the 

Respondent. A.R. at 219. The Respondent passed the medical assessment. The Respondent had lack 

of smooth pursuit and distinct and sustained nystagmus at maximum deviation in both eyes. A.R. . 

at 29, 188. 

The Investigating Officer explained and demonstrated the walk and turn test to the 

Respondent. The Respondent stepped off the line, missed heel to toe and made an improper turn. 

A. R. at 26,29, 189,238. 

The Investigating Officer explained and demonstrated the one leg stand test to the 

Respondent. He started the test before being instructed to do so, swayed while balancing and put his 

foot down two times. A. R. at 26,30, 189-90. 

At approximately 00:05 hours on August 5, 2010, the Respondent refused to take the 

preliminary breath test ("PBT") by not providing a sufficient sample. A. R. at 26, 30, 123. 

The Investigating Officer arrested the Respondent for driving under the influence ofalcohol 

("DUI") at 00:09 hours on August 5, 2010 and placed him into the back of the police cruiser. A. R. 

at 26, 190. 

The officers searched the Respondent's vehicle and observed a '"big wet spot on the floor," 

and an empty beer can under the passenger seat. A.R. at 29, 75. 

The Investigating Officer transported the Respondent to the Wheeling Police Department for 

administration of the secondary chemical test ofthe breath. A. R. at 190. The Investigating Officer 

was certified as a secondary breath analysis operator on August 27, 2004. At 00:40 hours, the 

Investigating Officer read the Implied Consent Statement to the Respondent, the Respondent signed 

the Implied Consent Statement, and the Respondent was given a copy. A. R. at 26, 31, 34, 191-92. 
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The Investigating Officer observed the Respondent for 20 minutes during which time the Respondent 

did not ingest anything. A. R. at 26, 190, 192. 

The Investigating Officer began the Intoximeter test at 00:47 hours. The Respondent said he 

was not able to blow into the machine. A. R. at 27, 192. The Investigating Officer did not believe 

that Respondent was unable to blow into the machine: "I didn't believe that-He did not give a 

reason." A. R. at 193. The Investigating Officer testified, " .. .it didn't appear that he was winded at 

any time that 1 observed." A. R. at 248. The Investigating Officer denied that the Respondent had 

any trouble breathing after getting out of the cruiser, walking up stairs into the Wheeling Police 

Department, down a hall and into the Intoximeter room. A. R. at 261. At 00:50 hours, the 

Respondent placed his mouth on the tube but did not provide a breath sample. A. R. at 26, 249. The 

Investigating Officer waited an additional 15 minutes then again asked the Respondent to submit to 

the test. A. R. at 193. At 1 :07 hours, the Respondent once again placed his mouth on the tube but did 

not provide a breath sample. A. R. at 26,33,249. 

The Investigating Officer submitted a DU1 Information Sheet to the Division of Motor 

Vehicles. A.R. at 36. The Respondent requested a hearing from the Office of Administrative 

Hearings ("OAH"). A.R. at 38-41. The OAH conducted administrative hearings in this matter on 

February 9, 2011 and July 7,2011. At the hearings, the Respondent appeared with counsel but did 

not testify. The Investigating Officer and Officer Goddard testified, and the DU1 Information Sheet, 

Implied Consent Statement, Intoximeter ticket and Narrative written by the Investigating Officer 

were admitted into evidence at the hearing. A.R. at 26-34. The videos ofthe stop and the Intoximeter 

test were also admitted into evidence. A.R. at 255. 

The OAH's Final Order was entered on April 27, 2016, and affirmed the revocation of the 

Respondent's license for DU1 and for refusing to submit to the secondary chemical test. A.R. at 279

290. The Respondent appealed the matterin the circuit court of Ohio county. A.R. at 297-303. A 

hearing was held before the Honorable David J. Sims on June 17, 2016. A. R. at 307-350. The circuit 

court's Final Order was entered on January 30,2017. A.R. at 1-20. 
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S~YOFARGUMENT 

Contrary to the circuit court's standard of review of an agency order, the court did not find 

that the conclusions of the OAR fact finder were clearly wrong or patently without basis in the 

record. Without explanation, the circuit court ignored the OAR's credibility determinations and 

overturned the fact finder's decision simply because the circuit court would have decided the case 

differently. The circuit court effectively gave the Respondent a de· novo hearing, rather than 

performing its duty to analyze the decision of the agency which made factual and legal 

determinations after hearing the evidence. 

The circuit court erred in basing its Final Order on speculation, answers to hypothetical 

questions and the unchecked boxes on the DUI Information Sh~et, rather than on its duty to 

determine, in this appeal, whether the Final Order of the OAR was supported by the record in this 

case. The court segregated each piece of evidence and systematically found ways to discredit and 

ultimately exclude them, rather than looking at whether there was sufficient evidence on the whole 

to support the revocation ofthe Respondent's license for DUI and refusal to submit to the secondary 

chemical test. This Court has explained that the applicable burden of proof at a license revocation 

proceeding is "proofby a preponderance of the evidence." Cain v. W Virginia Div. of Motor 

Vehicles, 225 W. Va. 467, 473, 694 S.E.2d 309,315 (2010). See also, Albrechtv. State, 173 W.Va. 

268,314 S.E.2d 859 (1984). 

In this case, the abundant evidence in the record shows that on August 4,2010, just before 

midnight, the Investigating Officer and Officer E. Goddard stopped the Respondent because he had 

a burned out headlight. Upon contacting the Respondent, the Respondent avoided eye contact with 

Officer Goddard, and the officer had to ask the Respondent twice for his license. Both officers 

smelled an odor ofalcohol on the Respondent. The Investigating Officer noted that the Respondent 

had bloodshot eyes. The Respondent admitted that he had drunk earlier in the day. The Respondent 

failed three field sobriety tests. He refused to take the PBT. The officers searched the Respondent's 

vehicle and found an empty beer can under the passenger seat. Once arrested, the Respondent refused 
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, ' 

to take the secondary chemical test. 

The Respondent did not testify or rebut the evidence at the two hearings that were convened 

at his request. Yet the circuit court utilized as its rationale the evidence adduced by defense counsel 

which was based on speculation, hypothetical questions, and attempts to mislead and confuse and 

to cause contradiction. The scenario reminds one ofDale v. Veltri, 230 W. Va. 598, 741 S.E.2d 823 

(2013), in which "The DMV contends that the hearing examiner properly weighed the evidence. 

Conversely, Mr. Veltri asserts that the circuit correctly arrived at the opposite conclusion, based upon 

Mr. Veltri's testimony contradicting many of the statements contained in the DUI Information 

Sheet." 230 W. Va. 602-03, 741 S.E.2d 827-28. In Veltri, as in this case, the OAR Hearing 

Examiner properly reconciled all of the evidence and found that the revocation was supported. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Argument pursuant to Rev. R.A.P Rule 19 is appropriate on the bases that this case involves 

assignments oferror in the application ofsettled law; that the case involves an unsustainable exercise 

ofdiscretion where the law governing that discretion is settled; and that this case involves a result 

against the weight of the evidence. 

ARGUMENT 

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This Court's review of a circuit court's order deciding an administrative appeal is made 

pursuantto W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4(a). The Court reviews questions oflaw presented de novo; and 

findings of fact by the administrative officer are accorded deference unless the reviewing court 

believes the findings to be clearly wrong. Reedv. Hail, 235 W. Va. 322, 773 S.E.2d 666 (2015). "In 

cases where the circuit court has [reversed] the result before the administrative agency, this Court 

reviews the final order ofthe circuit court and the ultimate disposition by it ofan administrative law 

,case under an abuse of discretion standard and reviews questions of law de novo." Syl. Pt. 2, 

Muscatell v. Cline, 196 W.Va. 588,474 S.E.2d 518 (1996). 
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II. 	 THE CmCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY IGNORING 
THE OAH'S CREDffiILITYDETERMINATIONS AND FAILING TO 
PERFORM ITS DUTY TO ANALYZE THE DECISION OF THE 
AGENCY WHICH MADE FACTUAL AND LEGAL 
DETERMINATIONS AFTER HEARING THE EVIDENCE WHERE 
THE RECORl) EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT THERE WAS 
REASONABLE ARTICULABLE SUSPICION FOR THE STOP OF 
THE RESPONDENT'S VEIDCLE, PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST 
HIM FOR DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF ALCOHOL, 
ANDSUFFICIENTEVIDENCETOFINDTHATTHERESPONDENT 
WASDUI. 

The circuit court abused its discretion in failing to accord deference to the findings of the 

OAH in its Final Order. The court gave no explanation for its reasons for reversal of that order. 

1. " 'On appeal of an administrative [decision] ... findings of fact by 
the administrative officer are accorded deference unless the reviewing 
court believes the findings to be clearly wrong.' Syllabus Point 2 (in 
part), Muscatell v. Cline, 196 W.Va. 588,474 S.E.2d 518 (1996)." 
Syllabus Point 2, Choma v. West Virginia Div. ofMotor Vehicles, 210 
W.Va. 256, 557 S.E.2d 310 (2001). 

2. "Evidentiary findings made at an administrative hearing should not 
be reversed unless they are clearly wrong." Syllabus Point 1 ,Francis 
0. Day Co.,Inc. v. Director, Div. ofEnvtl. Prot., 191 W.Va. 134,443 
S.E.2d 602 (1994). 

3. " 'The "clearly wrong" and the "arbitrary and capricious" standards 
ofreview are deferential ones which presume an agency's actions are 
valid as long as the decision is supported by substantial evidence or 
by a rational basis.' Syllabus Point 3, In re Queen, 196 W.Va. 442, 
473 S.E.2d483 (1996)." Syllabus Point 2, Webbv. West VirginiaBd. 
a/Medicine, 212 W.Va. 149,569 S.E.2d 225 (2002). 

Syl. Pts. 1,2,3, Lilly v. Stump, 217 W. Va. 313, 617 S.E.2d 860 (2005). The circuit court's Final 

Order, which tracked the proposed findings offact and conclusions oflaw submitted by the defense 

to the circuit court on January 20, 2017, reiterated the theories and evidence adduced on cross 

examination, and summarily concluded that the OAR's findings were clear error. 

"One piece of sand may not make a beach, but courts will not be made to look at each grain 

in isolation and conclude there is no seashore. It is the totality offactors that determines the issue .... " 

Com. v. Shelly, 703 A.2d 499,503 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1997). The circuit court's Final Order reversed 

the OAH by systematically discounting and dismissing the reasons for the stop and the evidence of 
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impairment, and giving undue weight to irrelevant and speculative evidence. The circuit court 

improperly substituted its judgment for that of the fact finder, and failed in its duty to determine 

whether there was a preponderance of the evidence to support the findings and conclusions of the 

OAR. "As we made clear in Carte, [Carte v. Cline, 200 W. Va. 162,488 S.E.2d 437 (1997)], a 

license revocation proceeding is not a criminal proceeding but a civil proceeding subject to the 

Administrative Procedures Act. 200 W. Va. at 165,488 S.E.2dat440. We further explained in Carte 

that the applicable burden ofproof at a license revocation proceeding is "proofby a preponderance 

ofthe evidence." Id. at 167,488 S.E.2d at 442." Cain v. W Virginia Div. a/Motor Vehicles, 225 W. 

Va. 467, 473, 694 S.E.2d 309,315 (2010). There is sufficient evidence in this record to show that 

the Respondent was DUI; however, this evidence was ignored by the circuit court on the bases of 

irrelevant and speculative questioning by the defense, which the circuit court used to dismiss each 

and every element ofproof which in their totality showed that the Respondent was DUI. 

The circuit court repeatedly emphasized the actions of the Respondent which were not 

indicative ofimpairment and speculatively explained away the evidence of impairment. Following 

the court's finding that "Patrolman Goddard and Prager had reasonable, articulable suspicion to 

initiate a traffic encounter with Pompeo given that he was driving with a burned out headlight," the 

court found, "Pompeo otherwise exhibited exemplary driving... " A.R. at 10; "Pompeo's speech 

was normal. ..and he produced his driver's information in an unremarkable fashion that was in no 

manner indicative of impairment."I A.R. at 10; "Indeed, the odor ofan alcoholic beverage on one's 

breath can exist in the absence ofbeing under the influence." A.R. at 10; Bloodshot eyes "may be 

ascribed to any number ofinnocent reasons," and specifically noted that "counsel's eyes were noted 

IThis finding is directly contradicted by the evidence. The Respondent avoided eye contact with 
Officer Goddard,-and the officer had to ask the Respondent twice for his license. A.R. at 26, 70, 96
97, 100. 
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to have blood in them and that Patrolman Prager did not believe counsel to be intoxicated.,,2 A.R. 

at 11. 

The officers had a reasonable, articulable reason to stop the Respondent because he had a 

defective headlight. Ibis is conceded in the circuit court's Final Order. A.R. at 1, 10. However, the 

circuit court concluded as a matter oflaw that the Respondent "exhibited exemplary driving" in other 

respects. A.R. at 10. The court overreaches with this irrelevant evidence in its obviously result

oriented order. 

The circuit court's Final Order is self-contradictory, disingenuous, and misleading. The 

evidence in this record demonstrates that the officers developed reasonable grounds to investigate 

the Respondent for Dill. The officers observed the odor of an alcoholic beverage emanating from 

the Respondent's breath; the Respondent was slow to retrieve requested documents; he avoided eye 

contact with Officer Goddard; and the Investigating Officer observed bloodshot eyes. Further, the 

Respondent admitted that he had been drinking. All ofthis occurred before the Respondent was 

asked to get out of the car. The circuit court's Final Order is self-contradictory: it provides, 

"Patrolman Goddard testified that Pompeo was not free to leave at that point despite the complete 

absence ofany evidence that would indicate that he was under the influence of alcohol." A.R. at 6. 

However, the court then concedes that " ... thepatrolman were justified in ordering Pompeo out ofthe 

vehicle incident to any lawful traffic stop in the interests of officer safety." A.R. at 11. More 

importantly, the Final Order disingenuous and wrong. Patrolman Goddard testified that the 

Respondent was not free to leave (A.R. at 113), but not that there was a "complete absence of any 

evidence that would indicate that he was under the influence of alcohol." Ibis type of misleading 

finding of fact by a circuit court should be ofgreat concern to this Court. 

2This finding is predicated on, and typical of, the irrelevant and speculative evidence elicited on 
cross-examination: "Q: ...How do my eyes look right now? A: They look fme to me,sir. Q: No blood in them 
at all? A: Just a little bit under maybe your right eyeball. Q: There is some blood there. You don't suspect 
I'munder the influence of alcohol? A: No, sir." AR. at 207. !tis this type ofirrelevant testimonywbich the 
circuit court relied on to exclude all of the evidence of intoxication. 
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As a result of the officers' having reasonable grounds to believe that the Respondent was 

DUI, they conducted standardized field sobriety testing, the results of which yielded further clues 

that the Respondent was impaired. On the HGN, the Respondent had lack of smooth pursuit and 

distinct and sustained nystagmus at maximum deviation in both eyes. A.R. at 29, 188. On cross

examination, the Investigating Officer testified, "I had gone both directions at least a couple oftimes. 

I don't recall exactly now how many more times I did." A.R. at 232. On cross, the Investigating 

Officer admitted that because he did not count the number of"sweeps and holds for the HGN test," 

that there was a deviation from the standard for administration of the test which may compromise 

the result. A.R. at 233. Defense counsel then pushed the Investigating Officer for a legal conclusion, 

which he was not qualified to make, regarding whether a deviation from procedure, which may 

compromise the test, would cause the test not to count against the Respondent. Despite being asked 

for a legal conclusion, Investigating Officer replied, "I think there would still be indicators there." 

A.R. at 234. 

This response is actually consistent with West Virginia case law that any deviation from the 

standards set forth by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (''NHTSA'') goes to the 

weight of the test's evidence, not its admissibility. The preface to the NHTSA manual states as 

follows: 

The procedures outlined in this manual describe how the 
Standardized Field Sobriety Tests (SFSTs) are to be administen~d 
under ideal conditions. We reco gnized that the SFSTs will not always 
be administered under ideal conditions in the field, because such 
conditions will not always exist. Even when administered under less 
than ideal conditions, they will generally serve as valid and useful 
indicators of impairment. Slight variations from the ideal, i.e., the 
inability to find a perfectly smooth surface at roadside, may have 
some affect on the evidentiary weight given to the results. However, 
this does not necessarily make the SFSTs invalid. 

HS 178 RS/06, 2006 Participant Manual for the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration 

(NHTSA), DWI Detection and Standardized Field Sobriety Testing (SFST) Course. "The horizontal 

gaze nystagmus test is a field sobriety test, and a driver's performance on the test is admissible as 
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evidence that the driver may have consumed alcohol and may, therefore, be impaired .... " Syl. Pt. 1, 

White v. Miller, 228 W. Va. 797, 724 S.E.2d 768 (2012). If an officer "failed to satisfy some 

requirement for administering the horizontal gaze nystagmus test, such failure 'went to the weight 

of the evidence, not its admissibility.'" Dale v. McCormick, 749 S.E.2d 227, 232 CW. Va.

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