HI. NATURE OF PROCEEDING-SAND RUJLINGS BYTRIBUNAL BELOW 

The instant appeal arises by virtue ofthe Notice ofAppeal filed by the Commissioner 

of the West Virginia Division of Motor Vehicles (hereinafter "the DMV," "the 

Commissionel","-or "Petitioner''-} challenging the-January 30, 2017, Order-of-the -Circuit 

Court of Ohio County reversing the April 27, 2016, Order of the Office of Administrative 

Hearings ("OAH") upholding the DMV's August 25, 2010, Order of Revocation revoking 

the privilege of Respondent, Joseph D. Pompeo (hereinafter, often, "Mr. Pompeo," or 

"Respondent") to operate a motor vehicle. Said Order ofRevocation was predicated on the

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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The circuit court's Order reversing OAR was properly predicated on its 

conclusion that, as a matter oflaw, the law enforcement officers were possessed on 

insufficient facts giving rise to a reasonable, articulable suspicion justifying extending 

the roadside detention of Respondent beyond the period of time necessary to simply 

ticket him for defective equipment. 

Moreover, the circuit court properly concluded that the administrative hearing 

examiner's factual conclusions were clearly erroneous in light of substantial evidence 

indicating that Respondent was not under the influence of alcohol and in light of the fact 

that the hearing examiner erroneously concluded that Respondent had refused the 

secondary chemical test. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the circuit court's 

decision reversing the OAB's decision upholding the order of revocation. 

VI. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Respondent submits that, upon an application of the criteria set forth in Rules 

16(d)(6) and 18(a)(4), W. Va. Rev. R. App. P., the facts and legal arguments are 

adequately presented in this brief and accompanying Appendix, and, accordingly, this 

Court's decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument. 
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WIt POINTS AND AUTHORITIES OF LAW AND ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT 

OF AFFIRMING THE CIRCUIT COURT'S ORDER REVERSING OAR'S 

DECISION UPHOLDING REVOCATION OF RESPONDENT'S LICENSE 


A. Standard Of Review. 

-Thi~0urthas-held that 

[u]pon judicial review of a contested case under the West Virginia Administrative 
Procedure Act, Chapter 29A, Article 5, Section 4(g), the circuit court may affirm 
the order or decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. 
The circuit court shall reverse, vacate or modify the order or decision of the 
agency if the substantial rights of the petitioner or petitioners have been 
prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, decisions 
or order are: '(1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; or (2) In 
excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; or (3) Made upon 
unlawful procedures; or (4) Affected by other error oflaw; or (5) Clearly wrong in 
view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or 
(6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly 
unwarranted exercise of discretion.' " Syllabus point 2, Shepherdstown Volunteer 
Fire Department v. State ex rel. State o/West Virginia Human Rights, 172 W.Va. 
627, 309 S.E.2d 342 (1983)· 

SyI. Pt. 3, Dale v. Dingess, 232 W. Va. 13,750 S.E.2d 128 (2013) (per curiam). 

This Court has further held that "a reviewing court is obligated to give deference 

to factual findings rendered by an administrative law judge, [and] a circuit court is not 

permitted to substitute its judgment for that of the hearing examiner with regard to 

factual determinations." Syllabus point 2, in part, Cahill v. Mercer County Board of 

Education, 208 W.Va. 177,539 S.E.2d 437 (2000). However, on an appeal of an 

administrative determination, the deference owed by a reviewing court to the factual 

findings of the administrative tribunal is not absolute, and an administrative body's 

factual determination may be reversed if the "reviewing court believes the finding to be 

clearly wrong." Syllabus Point 1 (in part), Muscatell v. Cline, 196 W.Va. 588, 474 S.E.2d 

518 (1996). 
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This Court has clarified that "[t]he 'clearly wrong' ... standard[] of review [is] a 

deferential one[] which presumes the agency's actions are valid as long as the decision is 

supported by substantial evidence or by a rational basis." Syl. Pt. 3, In re Queen, 196 W. 

Va;442,-47-S-S~2El--483 (19961~yh-P-t.2, Webbv. West VirginiaBd. o/Medicine,-212 

W. Va. 149,569 S.E.2d 225 (2002); Syl. Pt. 3, Lowe v. Cicchirillo, 223 W. Va. 175, 672 

S.E.2d 311 (2008). Where the circuit court has reversed a decision of an administrative 

agency, the Supreme Court ofAppeals reviews the circuit court's final order under an 

abuse of discretion standard and reviews questions of law de novo. Syl. Pt. 2, Muscatell, 

196 W.Va. 588, 474 S.E.2d 518 (1996). 

B. 	 The Ohio County Circuit Court properly concluded as a matter 
oflaw that insufficient evidence existed to furnish the arresting 
officers with reasonable, articulable suspicion justifying 
Respondent's extended detention following the stop for a 
burned out headlight. 

The crux of the question before this Court is whether the Ohio County Circuit 

Court properly concluded that, as a matter o/law, that an insufficient quantum of 

evidence existed to justify Mr. Pompeo's continued detention after he was stopped for a 

burned out headlight beyond the time necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop. 

The answer is plainly yes. 

Certainly, the circuit court found that the officers had reasonable suspicion to 

initiate a traffic encounter with Respondent given that he was driving with a burned out 

headlight. App. at p. 10. This fact was never disputed by Mr. Pompeo. However, the 

issue is whether the officers lawfully developed additional reasonable suspicion 

necessary to extend the detention beyond the point necessary to merely ticket Mr. 
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Pompeo for his defective equipment infraction and send him on his way given the 

quantity and the quality of the information in their possession. 

After stridently characterizing the circuit court's order as "self-contradictory, 

disingenuo't'lS,-and -mislead:ing;!'Petitioner's Briefat p; 9, DMV argues-that-the-od()r of an 

alcoholic beverage ("faint" in this case), bloodshot eyes, avoiding eye contact with the 

officer at the window was sufficient to furnish them with reasonable suspicion to extend 

the detention.3 No support is offered by DMV to sustain this conclusion. 

However, coupled with the undisputed evidence that Mr. Pompeo drove 

normally in all respects, spoke normally, produced his information in an 

unremarkable fashion, exited his vehicle normally, walked normally, and stood 

normally, the circuit court quite evidently concluded as a matter of law that the mere 

faint odor of alcohol and bloodshot eyes did not warrant Mr. Pompeo's continued 

detention beyond the period of time necessary to effectuate the purposes of the stop. 

App. at pp. 10-12. 

DMV's argument to the contrary is that the OAH hearing examiner correctly 

applied the law in concluding otherwise, apparently even in spite of this Court's 

authority in Federoffv. Rutledge, fn. 1, 175 W. Va. 389, fn. 1,332 S.E.2d 855 (1985) 

3 DMV also suggests that Mr. Pompeo was "slow" to retrieve his documents and implies 
that this fact contributes to a finding that reasonable suspicion was present. See DMV's 
Briefat p. 9. However, neither officer described Mr. Pompeo as being "slow" to retrieve 
his documents at all; rather, recall that all that Patrolman Goddard said that he has to 
ask twice for Mr. Pompeo's driver's license, a fact that he also offered was not unusual 
for stopped motorists without regard to the matter of impairment. App. at p. 101,1. 1-8. 
Moreover, as not noted by DMV, Mr. Pompeo produced both his insurance and 
registration information upon request; it was only his license that he had to be asked 
twice to produce. App. at p. 26. 
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citing 4 R. Gray, M.D. & L. Gordy, M.D., L.L.B., Attorneys' Textbook of Medicine § 

133.10 (3rd ed. 1985), addressing the poor correlation between "drinker's breath" and 

impairment. Federoffis, of course, consistent with authorities from other jurisdictions 

hbldihg-similarly.-Se~, e.g.;-State v.Taylor, 444 ~.E.2d 21-81, 482-(Ohio-App. 1981J-("The 

mere odor of alcohol about a driver's person, not even characterized by such customary 

adjectives as "pervasive" or "strong," may be indicia of alcohol ingestion, but is no more 

probable indication of intoxication than eating a meal is of gluttony ... the law prohibits 

drunken driving, not driving after a drink."); Saucier v. State, 869 P.2d 483 (Ak. 1994). 

Selectively citing to a portion of the record, DMV scolds the circuit court, 

contending that its conclusion that the manner in which Mr. Pompeo produced his 

driver's information to Patrolman Goddard was not indicative of impairment was 

"directly contradicted by the evidence," because he avoided eye contact and had to be 

asked twice to produce it. See Petitioner's Briefat p. 8, fn. 1. DMV cites no authority 

reflecting that a motorist avoiding eye contact with a law enforcement officer during a 

traffic encounter or having to be asked twice to produce a driver's license contribute to a 

finding of reasonable suspicion necessary to extend a traffic detention. 

The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit has noted that a 

citizen's avoidance of eye contact with a law enforcement officer is entitled little weight 

in assessing whether reasonable suspicion exists. United States v. Foster, 824 F.3d 84, 

93 (4th Cir. 2016), citing United States v. Massenburg, 654 F.3d 480,489 (4th Cir. 

2011) ("We are hesitant, however, to afford lack of eye contact much weight because it is 

no more likely to be an indicator of suspiciousness than 'a show of respect and an 

attempt to avoid confrontation."'). Recall, too, that Patrolman Goddard, himself, when 
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questioned on Mr. Pompeo's reactions, noted that citizens are not generally overjoyed at 

seeing the police, App. at p. 99, 1. 5-9, and that, although he had to ask Mr. Pompeo for 

his license twice, there was nothing abnormal about him having to do so and that such 

fact-was-not-ret1eetive of-Mr. Pompeo-being impaired. App. at pp.l00, 1. -9-18. 

The officers asked Mr. Pompeo out of the car incident to the traffic stop, and, 

although their motivation was to further investigate him for a DUI offense, they were 

certainly entitled to order him out of his vehicle for any reason during any routine traffic 

stop, a fact of which the circuit court took note. App. at p. 11, citing Pennsylvania v. 

Mimms, 434 U.S. 106 (1977)-4 Thank goodness that they did inasmuch as the roadside 

video reflects that Mr. Pompeo exited his car normally, walked normally, and stood 

normally, facts undermining the notion that reasonable suspicion to extend the 

detention existed. All one need do to reach these conclusions is watch the video. And 

that is exactly where the detention should have concluded. Mr. Pompeo's arrest was 

unlawful in abrogation ofW. Va. Code § 17C-sA-2(f), because his continued detention 

was based, ultimately, on red eyes and the faint odor of an alcoholic beverage despite 

having driven in an exemplary fashion, spoken normally, and acted in every other 

manner consistent with someone who was not intoxicated.5 

4 Moreover, their motivation in doing so is irrelevant, as Fourth Amendment analysis 
turns on an objective assessment of the information possessed by the officer at the time. 
See, e.g., Maryland v. Macon, 472 U.S. 463, 470-71 (1985); see, too, Scott v. United 
States, 436 U.S. 128, 136, 138, 139 n.13 (1978)). 

5 DMV refers to Mr. Pompeo's admission to having consumed alcoholic beverages 
earlier in the day as a separate fact distinctive from the odor of an alcoholic beverage on 
his breath. Really, in the interest of intellectual honesty, offering up these facts as 
separate components contributing to a finding of reasonable suspicion is double 
counting. 
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The circuit court properly reasoned that the facts relied upon by the hearing 

examiner in upholding the order of revocation were "perfectly innocuous when 

considered either separately or in their totality and [fell] far short of the requisite 

quantunrofproofnecessary to establish reasonable suspicion under Stuart . ..-." -See 

App. at p. 14. This Court should affirm the circuit court's finding and reject the notion 

advocated by DMV of "cobbling together a set of facts that falls far short of establishing 

reasonable suspicion." United States v. Powell, 666 F.3d 180, 183 (4th Cir. 2011). For 

the Court to hold otherwise would require this Court to find that a reasonable, 

articulable suspicion that a motorist is driving under the influence of alcohol is 

substantiated merely by the faint odor of alcohol on the driver's breath and bloodshot 

eyes. 6 

c. 	 The Ohio County Circuit Court properly concluded that the 
hearing examiner was clearly wrong in determining that 
Respondent was under the influence ofalcohol. 

The circuit court concluded that not only were Mr. Pompeo's Fourth Amendment 

rights violated through the unlawfully extended roadside detention, but they were 

violated as well given that insufficient probable cause was developed by the officers 

6 DMV argues in its Briefat p. 9 that the circuit court's conclusion that there was a 
"complete absence of any evidence" that would indicate that Mr. Pompeo was under the 
influence is a "misleading finding of fact" that should be of "great concern to this Court." 
Mr. Pompeo takes serious issue with DMV's characterization of the circuit court's 

findings in this regard. Up to the point that the traffic stop was unlawfully extended, 
there may have been evidence that Mr. Pompeo had consumed alcoholic beverages, but 
the circuit court was certainly correct in concluding that there was no evidence that Mr. 
Pompeo was under the influence of alcohol. Indeed, Patrolman Goddard testified that 
the only reason he involved his partner and extended the stop was based upon the 
'faint odor" ofalcohol on Mr. Pompeo's breath. App. at pp. 110,1. 2-22; 111,1. 1-19. 
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during the unlawfully extended detention to justify his arrest. App. at p. 13. In its brief, 

DMY properly notes that a circuit court is required to pay deference to the fact-finder's 

assessment of the evidence. See Petitioner's Briefat pp. 6-7. However, a circuit court is 

not-required-to-don blinders in reviewing the factual record, and reversal ofan-- 

administrative agency's decision is warranted when its "findings, inferences, 

conclusions, decisions or order are ... [c]learly wrong in view of the reliable, probative 

and substantial evidence on the whole record ...." Syl. pt. 2 (in part), Shepherdstown 

V.P.D., 172 W. Va. 627, 309 S.E.2d 342. It is when a circuit court reverses an 

administrative agency's decision by substituting its judgment for the hearing examiner's 

as to "credibility findings" that this rule is affronted. Syl. Pt. 3, Dingess, 232 W. Va. 13, 

750 S.E.2d 18. 

In the matter at Bar, the Ohio County Circuit Court did not engage in any 

substitution ofjudgment. In its order, the circuit court did not take issue with the 

hearing examiner's assessment of the credibility of the DMV's evidence or witnesses 

(except to the extent that it noted that Corporal Prager's testimony appeared to evolve in 

self-serving fashion during extensive cross-examination on the subject of how he 

instructed Mr. Pompeo on taking the SFSTs). App. at pp. 239-244.7 Rather, the circuit 

court's order was rooted in its evident conclusion that the officer's failure to comply with 

7 DMV terms this cross-examination "blindingly confusing, repetitive, [and] 
hypothetical[.]" See DMV's Brief at p. 13. However, such is the nature of cross
examination. Indeed, robust cross-examination is critical to the truth-seeking process. 
"Of course, the right to cross-examine includes the opportunity to show that a witness is 
biased, or that the testimony is exaggerated or unbelievable. United States v. Abelm, 
469 U.S. 45,50,105 S.Ct. 465, 468,83 L.Ed.2d 450 (1984)[.]" Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 
480 U.S. 39,52,107 S.Ct. 989,998,94 L.E.d2d 40 (1987) (other citations omitted). 
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the standards of the National Highway Safety Administration ("NHTSA") for the 

administration of SFSTs required that the exclusion of those tests and that OAB's 

conclusion to the contrary was clearly erroneous. 

For-all-erdersofrevocation occurring after June 1, 2010, such order cannot be 

upheld unless it is first determined that the driver was lawfully arrested. W. Va. Code § 

17C-,5A-2(f). In turn, probable cause is a prerequisite to a lawful arrest. See U.S. Const. 

Amd. 4; W. Va. Const. Art. III, § 6. See, too, Syl. pt. 2 (in relevant part), State v. Jones, 

193 W. Va. 378, 456 S.E.2d 459 (1995) (lithe police cannot seize an individual, 

involuntarily take him to a police station, and detain him ... while lacking probable 

cause to make an arrest. "). See, too, Syl. Pt. 3 (in part), Hill v. Cline, 193 W. Va. 436,457 

S.E.2d 113 (1995). 

Tellingly, DMV does not challenge in its Briefthe circuit court's conclusion that 

none of the SFSTs administered to Mr. Pompeo were properly administered. App. at p. 

13. Rather, the Commissioner argues that the circuit court's discounting of the SFSTs 

based upon its foregoing conclusion constitutes an improper "credibility 

determination[.]" See DMV's Briefat p. 11-16. However, the issue resolved by the 

circuit court did not center upon "credibility" determinations so much as it did an

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